IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CHARLES VAN, SR. and RILLA VAN, as husband and wife,

Petitioners,

vs. Sup. Ct. Case No: SC11-1467

D.C.A. Case No: 1D10-

4206

L.T. Case No.: 01-08-CA-5867

DANIEL J. SCHMIDT,

Respondent,	

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

T. Bradley McRae Fla. Bar No. 100668 McRae & McRae 318 East Duval Street Lake City, FL 32055 (386) 719-4357 Fax No. (386) 719-4430 Edwin B. Browning, Jr. Fla. Bar No. 0009562 George T. Reeves Fla. Bar No. 0009407 Davis, Schnitker, Reeves & Browning, P.A. Post Office Drawer 652 Madison, Florida 32341 (850) 973-4186 Fax No. (850) 973-8564

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the Petitioner, CHARLES VAN, SR., will be referred to as MR. VAN, the Petitioner, RILLA VAN, will be referred to as MS. VAN, and the Petitioners will be referred to collectively as the Petitioners, the Plaintiffs or the VANS. The Respondent, DANIEL J. SCHMIDT, will be referred to as the Respondent, the Defendant, the Defense or SCHMIDT. Citations shall be made to the Appendix by page number as (App. - ___)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The VANS were the Plaintiffs in the trial court and brought the action below seeking damages against SCHMIDT for injuries resulting from an automobile collision. (App. - 2) MR. VAN sought damages for the injuries he suffered in the automobile collision. (App. - 2) MS. VAN, MR. VAN's spouse, sought damages for loss of consortium.

The action before the trial court proceeded to a three day jury trial. (App. - 2) At the trial, SCHMIDT did not contest liability for the subject automobile collision but disputed that the collision caused MR.VAN's injuries. (App - 2) The jury returned a verdict of "no causation". (App. - 2) The VANS filed a motion for new trial. (App. -2)

The trial court granted the VAN's motion for new trial finding that the jury's

verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. (App. - 2) The only expert witnesses presented at trial were three medical doctors, one of whom testified for SCHMIDT. (App. - 3) All of the experts testified that MR. VAN's injuries were caused at least in part by the subject automobile collision. (App. - 3) The trial court found that based on the above expert testimony, the manifest weight of the evidence was contrary to the jury verdict and a new trial was warranted. (App. - 2-3)

An appeal of the order granting new trial was filed to the First District Court of Appeal. On April 15, 2011, the district court reversed the subject order. On May 2, 2011, the VANS filed a timely motion for rehearing. On June 30, 2011, the district court issued its opinion on rehearing which also reversed the order granting new trial. (App. - 1-9)

The district court held that the trial court abused its discretion in granting new trial because the trial court erroneous concluded that the jury should not have rejected the uncontroverted expert evidence of causation and returned a "no causation" verdict. (App. - 5) The district court felt that the trial court failed to recognize the jury's prerogative to reject expert testimony and therefore erred in concluding that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. (App. - 9)

On July 28, 2011, the VANS timely filed their notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case, the district court of appeal reversed the grant of new trial holding that the trial court erred in failing to recognize the jury's prerogative to reject the expert testimony. The district court's holding conflicts with the admonition of *Brown v. Estate of Stuckey*, 749 So. 2d 490, 497 (Fla.1999), that "[t]he fact that there may be substantial, competent evidence in the record to support the jury verdict does not necessarily demonstrate that the trial judge abused his or her discretion." *Id.* at 498.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals recognized that the instant case ran afoul of *Stuckey*, in *Kuebler v. Ferris*, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1548, 2011 WL 2848624, (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 2011) and expressly and directly declined to follow the instant case. This court is required to resolve the conflict between the instant case and *Kuebler*, *supra*.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of this court or another district court of appeal on the same point of law. Art. V, § 3(b)(3)

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THIS CASE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT IN *KUEBLER V. FERRIS*, 36 FLA. L. WEEKLY D1548, 2011 WL 2848624, (FLA. 4TH DCA JULY 20, 2011)

On June 30, 2011, the First District Court issued its opinion on rehearing which is the decision on review herein. (App. - 1) On July 20, 2011, the Fourth District Court issued its opinion in *Kuebler v. Ferris*, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1548, 2011 WL 2848624, (Fla. 4th DCA July 20, 2011). In *Kuebler*, the Fourth District Court considered the First District's opinion herein and expressly and directly rejected its reasoning.

In *Schmidt*,² the trial court granted a new trial on the basis that the verdict finding the accident in question did not cause the plaintiff's injuries was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, because the all three medical expert witnesses testified that it did, including a defense witness. The trial court dismissed the plaintiff's credibility issues, because "no reasonable juror would conclude 'no causation' ... in light of the opinions of the three doctors." The appellate court reversed, finding that conclusion clearly erroneous, because the jury could reject any testimony, including that of experts. The trial judge erred in failing to defer to the jury where the jury could have come to its verdict based upon the lay testimony. "By failing to recognize the jury's prerogative to reject the expert testimony on causation,

¹The Fourth District Court's website shows that no motion for rehearing or any other post opinion motion has been filed, the time for any such motion has passed and the mandate was issued on August 5, 2011.

²The instant case.

particularly in light of the lay testimony which conflicted with the expert testimony, the trial court erred in concluding that the manifest weight of the evidence was contrary to the jury verdict." *Id.* at D1426.

Some of the language in these cases seems to contradict the holding of *Brown* that the appellate court should defer to the discretion of the trial court in granting a new trial, even where there is competent substantial evidence to support the jury verdict. In both *Jordan* and *Schmidt*³ the court seems to have concluded that because competent substantial evidence supported the jury's verdict, which the trial court disregarded, the trial court abused its discretion. We think this runs afoul of the admonition in *Brown v. Estate of Stuckey* that "[t]he fact that there may be substantial, competent evidence in the record to support the jury verdict does not necessarily demonstrate that the trial judge abused his or her discretion." *Id.* at 498.

If we apply the same rationale as was used in *Jordan* and *Schmidt*, we would have to find that the trial court abused its discretion. In this case, the trial court granted a new trial on the ground that it was "undisputed" that all of the expert and lay testimony showed Ferris suffered at least a neck strain as a result of the accident.

* *

Because there is no record basis to show that the evidence was "undisputed" that an injury occurred, and the trial court did not consider the credibility of the plaintiff in its assessment, we could find that the trial court abused its discretion, just as the courts did in *Schmidt*⁵ and *Jordan*. It is most likely the result we would prefer, as the trial court should defer to the jury on issues of the weight to be given to expert testimony. Nevertheless, *Brown* teaches that the trial judge may grant a new trial although it is not "clear, obvious, and indisputable that the jury was wrong." *Brown* further explains the very limited authority of the appellate court in reviewing the broad

³The instant case.

⁴The instant case.

⁵The instant case.

discretion granted to the trial court, and we think reasonable persons could differ as to the propriety of the action by the trial court, particularly where the defense counsel in closing argument admitted that the accident caused at least some injury. We therefore must affirm the trial court's order of a new trial.

Kuebler, at 4-5⁶. (Emphasis supplied)

The VANS agree with the Fourth District Court that the First District's opinion herein is contrary to this court's instructions when reviewing grants of new trial as set out in *Brown v. Estate of A.P. Stuckey*, 749 So.2d 490, 497-498 (Fla. 1999).

However, the instant case's divergence from Supreme Court precedent becomes even more clear when considering this court's opinion in *E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc. v. Farnes*, 697 So.2d 825 (Fla. 1997). In *Squibb*, the trial court granted new trial finding that the jury's verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence. *Squibb*, at 826. The District Court of Appeal reversed the grant of new trial holding:

Where, as in the instant case, each party had an expert witness testify at trial regarding causation, it is for the jury to resolve and weigh the conflicting testimony. Trial court judges do not have the discretion to substitute their judgment for that of the jury in regard to the conflicting testimony of expert medical witnesses.

Farnes v. E.R. Squibb & Sons, Inc., 667 So.2d 1004, 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) quoted by this court in E.R. Squibb and Sons, Inc. v. Farnes, 697

So.2d 825, 826 (Fla. 1997)

This court reversed the opinion of the District Court. This court recounted the various expert testimony presented in support of and against the jury's verdict and then held:

Our review of the record shows that although there was an evidentiary basis for the jury verdict, there also was extensive evidentiary support for the trial court's ruling. ... Based on the foregoing, "we are unable to say, after viewing the evidence as a whole, that reasonable [persons] could not have concluded that the verdict ... was against the manifest weight of the evidence." (Citations omitted) In short, reasonable persons could agree with the trial court.

Squibb, at 827-828.

In the instant case, the First District reversed the grant of new trial reasoning that the trial court erred "By failing to recognize the jury's prerogative to reject the expert testimony on causation, particularly in light of the <u>lay testimony which</u> conflicted with the expert testimony..." (App. - 9) In *Squibb*, *supra*, this court found that the trial court is not required to defer to the jury, even where there is conflicting expert testimony. *Squibb*, at 828. In the trial court is not required to defer to the jury's resolution of conflicting expert testimony, then it surely cannot be required to defer to the jury's resolution of conflicting expert and lay testimony.

The Fourth District Court in *Kuebler*, correctly interpreted this court's precedent in *Stuckey*, and *Sqibb*, with regards to consideration of order's granting

⁶Citation to *Kuebler*, will be to the Westlaw page number.

new trial. This court should now reaffirm *Stuckey*, and *Sqibb*, by accepting discretionary review, quashing the contrary decision of the district court below and approving the Fourth District Court's opinion in *Kuebler*.

CONCLUSION

This court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below, and the court should exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of the Petitioners' argument.