CASE NO.: SC11-1467 Florida Bar No. 184170

CHARLES VAN, SR., and RILLA VAN, as husband and wife, Petitioners,

vs.

DANIEL J. SCHMIDT,

Respondent

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON JURISDICTION DANIEL J. SCHMIDT

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire James W. Sherman, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward

#### and

Jennifer R. Cassady, Esquire Law Offices of PATRICIA E. GARAGOZLO Jacksonville, FL

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

After negligence was admitted, this case went to a Jury-Trial on causation and damages and the jury returned a Verdict finding no causation or damages. The trial court granted a Motion for New Trial finding that the jury could not base its Verdict on lay evidence without the defense hiring an accident reconstruction expert because the medical experts testified as to causation and injury. The First District reversed based on the trial court's erroneous conclusion of law that the jury could not reject medical expert testimony and accept lay evidence without an accident reconstruction expert.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no express and direct conflict; only different facts, so there is no basis for the extraordinary remedy of discretionary review.

#### ARGUMENT

THERE IS NO CONFLICT JURISDICTION. THE PETITIONERS ARE MERELY SEEKING A SECOND APPEAL ON THE MERITS.

#### Standard of Review

Because this is a request by the Petitioners for discretionary review, the Standard of Review is "express and direct conflict," which is not present. Jenkins v. State, 385

-1-

So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). There are merely different facts. The Plaintiff is simply seeking a second appeal on the merits.

#### No Express and Direct Conflict

The Opinion of the First District in this case is in accord with the Opinion of the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Easkold v. Rhodes</u>, 614 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1993) and its progeny, which hold that a jury can accept, reject or give even undisputed expert testimony any weight it deserves, including rejecting it entirely.

The Petitioners rely on the recent Fourth District Court of Appeal case of <u>Kuebler v. Ferris</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1548, 2011 WL 2848624 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA, July 22, 2011), claiming express and direct conflict, but are really attempting a second appeal on the merits, which the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly said it will not do. A close reading of these cases makes clear that there is no express and direct conflict, only a difference of facts which is insufficient to obtain the extraordinary remedy of discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

The Petitioners go into a discussion of the facts which are favorable to them, and additionally, they ignore the facts which are unfavorable to them. Nowhere is there a crisp discussion of

-2-

issues of law. It is, therefore, apparent that the Petitioners are seeking a second appeal on the merits, which the Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly said it will not do.

The jurisdiction of the Supreme Court derives from Art. 5 § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution, which sates that the Supreme Court:

"May review any decision of a district court of appeal... that <u>expressly</u> and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law..." (Emphasis supplied).

The function of the Supreme Court in regard to conflict jurisdiction has long been to resolve conflicting points of law, and not to function as a second appeal on the merits. <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958); <u>Karlin v. City of Miami</u>, 113 So. 2d 551 (Fla. 1959); Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980).

As previously noted the Appellate Court's decision in <u>Kuebler</u> and the present case are not in express and direct conflict, but are merely based on different facts. In <u>Kuebler</u>, the trial court granted a new trial finding that the Verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence. The Defendant's position on appeal was based upon a different view of the facts

-3-

than the trial court's view, which found that the evidence was "undisputed" that an injury occurred.

In the present case, <u>Schmidt v. Van</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1425, 2011 WL 2570774 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, June 30, 2011), the trial court's Order was based on erroneous rulings of law, which are not expressly set out in the opinion but which are alluded to on page 1 of the Opinion on Motion for Rehearing:

> ...the trial court disregarded all lay testimony bearing on causation of Mr. Van's injuries. The court expressly concluded that in the absence of expert testimony regarding accident reconstruction or other "technical matters" affecting causation for the injury, "[n]o reasonable juror would conclude "no causation"...

#### Schmidt, 1.

This is a crucial distinction because the trial court's Order in the present case was based on erroneous conclusions of law, and not merely a different view of the evidence as was the case in Kuebler.

Again, the Petitioners have not argued all the facts, but merely those which are favorable to them in order to create the **appearance** of express and direct conflict. The court in <u>Kuebler</u> took a different view of the evidence than the Defendant by stating "that the undisputed testimony of the witnesses, expert and lay, established that the Plaintiff had suffered some

-4-

injury." <u>Kuebler</u>, 3. The trial court in the present case expressly disregarded the lay testimony. This was not just a different view of the evidence, but a **direct legal conclusion** that the jury could not accept the lay opinion without additional expert testimony *on* "technical matters," which finding by the trial court is clearly contrary to Florida law.

The trial court's ruling was legally incorrect, not merely a different view of the evidence. The court's legal conclusion was directly contrary to this Court's holding in <u>Easkold v. Rhodes</u>, 614 So. 2d 495 (Fla. 1993), which was recently restated in <u>Wald v.</u> Grainaer, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S211, 2011 WL 1885710:

> ...the jury's ability to reject the testimony must be based on some reasonable basis in the evidence. This can include conflicting medical evidence, evidence that impeaches the expert's testimony or calls it into question, such as the failure of the plaintiff to give the medical expert an accurate or complete medical history, conflicting lay testimony or evidence that disputes the injury claim, or the plaintiff's conflicting testimony or self-contradictory statements regarding the injury.

> > Wald, 3.

As this Court is well aware, a Jury Verdict is clothed with a very strong presumption of correctness. <u>Stark v. Vasguez</u>, 168 So. 2d 140 (Fla. 1964)(noting that the appellate court does not have the opportunity to observe the witnesses while they testify

-5-

or to judge their frankness); <u>Broward County School Board v. Ruiz</u>, 493 So. 2d 474 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1986)(court had no authority to second guess jury in a negligence case); <u>Grossman v. Sea Air Towers, Limited</u>. 513 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1987)(jury verdict which finds support in the record can not be disturbed); <u>Landrv v. Hornstein</u>. 462 So. 2d 844 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1985)(appellate court should not reevaluate evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the jury); <u>Thompson v. Jacobs</u>. 314 So. 2d 797 (Fla. I<sup>s</sup>-DCA 1975) ; <u>Vanzant v. Davies</u>. 215 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1968) ; 3 Fla. Jur. 2d, Appellate Review, § 359 (1978).

Furthermore, despite the Petitioner's argument to the contrary a trial court is not viewed with unfettered discretion to grant a new trial. This is the reason this Honorable Court in <u>Wackenhut</u> <u>Corporation v. Canty</u>. 359 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 1978) held that **trial courts are required to provide detailed Orders when they grant a new trial so that appellate review is possible:** 

> Certainly a trial court is in a better position than an appellate court to pass on the ultimate correctness of a jury's verdict. *Pyms v. Meranda*, 98 So.2d 341, 343 (Fla. 1957), but superior vantage point does not give a trial judge unbridled discretion to order a new trial. Consequently, to facilitate intelligent appellate review of such orders the reasons which produced the need for the new trial must be set forth in the order. *Stewart Bonded Warehouse Inc.* v.

> > -6-

Bevis, 294 So.2d 315, 317 (Fla. 1974).

#### Wackenhut. 434.

See also, <u>Jones v. Atkinson</u>, 974 So. 2d 573 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2008) (holding that the trial judge does not posses qualifiedly broad discretion when ordering a new trial); <u>Adams v. Saavedra</u>. 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1617, 2011 WL 3108076 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA, July 27, 2011) (holding that an Order granting remittitur containing only "buzz words" without sufficient facts to support those characterizations was insufficient as a matter of law).

Additionally, there are numerous cases which have held that trial courts abuse their discretion by sitting as a seventh juror with veto power and reweighing the evidence. In <u>Hernandez v. Feliciano</u>, 890 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2004), the trial court granted a new trial, and the Court of Appeal reversed, saying that the judge was usurping the function of the jury by sitting as a seventh juror with veto power:

> Although the trial court expressly found Hernandez to be "very honest," it ultimately found Feliciano to be more credible on the issue of liability. Liability, however, is the primary issue the jury was charged with determining and the trial court **abused its** discretion in reaching a decision on that essential issue based upon what, at most, was conflicting evidence. In doing so, the court merely substituted its own verdict for that of the jury's. Review of the record does not

> > -7-

support the trial court's order because the evidence was not manifestly weighed to either side. E.G., Hillsboro Plantation, Inc. v. Plunkett, 59 So.2d 872 (Fla. 1952)(holding that trial court abused its discretion in granting a new trial because in doing so he was weighing the sufficiency of the evidence which was a jury function);... (Emphasis added).

Hernandez, 404.

Similarly, a case which reversed the trial judge for granting a new trial was <u>Midtown Enterprises</u>, <u>Inc. v. Local Contractors</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 785 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2001). The Court held that the trial court erred by weighing the credibility of the witnesses, and therefore a new trial should be granted:

> While the *Brown* decision reiterates long-standing- precedent that the trial court has broad discretion in granting a new trial when the verdict is against the manifest weight of the evidence, the supreme court also reminds us that "[t]he role of the trial judge is not to substitute his or her own verdict for that of the jury, but to avoid what, in the judge's trained and experienced judgment, is an unjust verdict." *Id.* at 495.

> In this case, the reasons articulated by the trial court in the order refer solely to the weight of the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. More importantly, the oral pronouncements made by the trial court at the conclusion of extensive post-trial hearings only refer to the perceived evidentiary errors. It is only the order drafted by counsel for Local

Contractors that articulates the reasons quoted above. In fact, during these hearings, the trial court expressed its reluctance to act as a seventh juror.

We thus find that the trial court abused its discretion in granting a new trial on the basis that the verdict was against the manifest weight of the evidence (Emphasis added).

#### Midtown Enterprises. 582-583.

Other recent cases which have overturned trial judges for granting a new trial, include Pones v. Moss. 884 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2 0 04) and Jones v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Company, 871 So. 2d 899 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2004); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Caboverde, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1090, 2011 WL 1877992 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA, May 18, 2011) (holding where the evidence was not manifestly weighted to either side, a trial judge's decision to grant a new trial may be reversed); Morton's of Chicago/North Miami Beach, LLC v. Bermudez, 53 So. 3d 369 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 2011)(holding that trial court abused its discretion in granting a motion for new trial); Ring Power Corporation v. Rosier, 36 Fla. L. Weekly D1543, 2011 WL 2752841 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA, July 18, 2011) (holding that where a trial court grants a new trial on the basis that the Verdict was contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, the issue is whether there is record support for the trial court's finding that the Verdict was

-9-

contrary to the manifest weight of the evidence, and the trial court abuses its discretion in granting a new trial where there is no record support for the reasons stated in its Order).

Despite what the Petitioner would have this court believe, the trial court is not imbued with unfettered discretion to grant a new trial, which is why the Florida Supreme Court has made clear the trial judge must state the reasons for granting a new trial. Such an Order is subject to reversal when the appellate court determines that the trial court has acted outside the bounds of the law, and especially when the trial judge has **misapplied the law**.

There is no conflict in the present case because the **facts are different.** The reasons stated for the new trial by the trial courts were substantially different. There is no express and direct conflict in the case and the Petitioners are simply seeking a second bite at the apple through a second appeal on the merits. As there is no direct and express conflict, the Petition should be denied.

#### CONCLUSION

There is no direct and express conflict. The Petitioners are simply seeking a separate appeal on the merits, which the Supreme Court has repeatedly said it will not do.

-10-

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Sr., Esquire James W. Sherman, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward

#### and

Jennifer R. Cassady, Esquire Law Offices of PATRICIA E. GARAGOZLO Jacksonville, FL